IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NORMAN B. MCKENZIE,)	
)	
)	
Appellant,)	
)	
vs.)	CASE NUMBER SC07-2101
)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
)	
Appellee.)	
)	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal comprises eight volumes. Volume I, II, and III contain 487 pages numbered consecutively. Beginning with Volume IV, the clerk began renumbering the 603 pages contained in Volumes IV, V, VI, VII, and VIII. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using a Roman Numeral to designate the appropriate volume and Arabic numbers designating the pertinent page.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 17, 2006, the spring term grand jury, in and for St. Johns County, Florida, returned an indictment charging Norman Blake McKenzie, the appellant, with two counts of first-degree murder. (I 3-4) The indictment alleged that appellant killed Randy Wayne Peacock and Charles Frank Johnston by striking each with a hatchet and also by stabbing Peacock with a knife. The state filed its notice of intent to seek the death penalty on March 2, 2007. (I 12) On March 22, 2003, the Office of the Public Defender, Seventh Judicial Circuit, filed a notice of appearance as counsel for appellant. (I 16-19) On that same day, newlyappointed counsel filed a motion to continue the previously set pretrial and, in the process waived appellant's right to a speedy trial. (I 20-21) The grounds cited were that appellant had been transported to another county jail, and counsel had made no contact with appellant. Authorities subsequently transported appellant to the St. Johns County jail on May 14, 2007. On August 10, 2007 appointed counsel orally moved to continue the case. Appellant personally objected and refused to waive his speedy trial rights. (I 39-40)

Appellant subsequently chose to represent himself prior to trial. The trial court conducted a inquiry pursuant to *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806 (1975). (III 385-437) The court found appellant competent to waive counsel. At

appellant's request, the trial court appointed the Office of the Public Defender as standby counsel. (III 436-37)

On August 20, 2007, this cause proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Wendy Burger. Following deliberations, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on both counts of murder in the first degree. (I 83-84)

Immediately after the verdict at the guilt phase, appellant accepted the trial court's offer of counsel for the penalty phase. (VI 380-81) The trial court appointed the Office of the Public Defender to represent appellant at the penalty phase, and counsel's motion for continuance was granted. (I 85; VI 382-403) Subsequently, appellant changed his mind and requested to represent himself which the trial court granted. The trial court appointed two lawyers at the Office of the Public Defender as standby counsel. (I 86; VII 407-37)

Following the penalty phase, the jury returned with a recommendation to the court that the death penalty be imposed for each of the two murders. Both counts were decided by a ten to two vote. (I 94-95) The trial court ordered a presentence investigation report. (I 163)

On August 27, 2007, the trial court held a perfunctory hearing pursuant to *Spencer v. State*, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993). Appellant again denied the trial court's offer of counsel. Neither side presented any witnesses or evidence. (III

444-60)

The trial court utilized one order that set forth the findings of fact in support of the two death sentences imposed. (I 183-196) The court considered a total of three aggravating factors that had been proved by the state. The trial court found that:

- (1) Appellant had previously been convicted of another capital offense or of a felony involving the use of violence to some person [assigned great weight];
- (2) The crime was committed while appellant was engaged in the commission of the crime of robbery [assigned great weight];
- (3) The crime was committed for financial gain (the trial court concluded that this factor merged with the prior aggravating factor) [no added weight];
- (4) The crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, without any pretense of moral or legal justification [great weight].

(I 185-190)

After considering all of the evidence, the trial court rejected appellant's contention that he committed the murders while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, specifically that he was high on cocaine at the time. (I 190-91) The trial court considered seven nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. The court found that the evidence reasonably established the

following circumstances:

- (1) Appellant suffers from cocaine addiction [little weight];
- (2) Appellant suffered abuse as a child [little weight];
- (3) Appellant displayed good behavior during the course of all court proceedings [some weight];
- (4) Appellant expressed remorse [some weight];
- (5) Appellant cooperated with police and was instrumental during his own conviction [some weight];
- (6) Appellant was gainfully employed and earned substantial income at the time of the crimes [very little weight];
- (7) Appellant is currently serving a sentence of life in prison and will never be paroled [little weight].

(I 191-194)

On October 30, 2007, appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. (II 328) This brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The two victims in this case, Randy Peacock and Charlie Johnston, shared a home in a small neighborhood tucked away in a wooded area in St. Johns County, Florida. Charlie Johnston was retired. Randy Peacock, age forty-nine, worked in the pulmonary function lab at Flagler Hospital. On October 5, 2006, Peacock failed to show up for his 7:00 a.m. shift at the hospital. (II 2 135-140) Peacock's co-workers were unsuccessful in their attempts to reach him on his home phone as well as his cellular phone. (II 137) They also tried, without success, to reach Charlie Johnston, Peacock's roommate. (II 138-139) Since it was highly unusual for Peacock to miss work, Perry Privette and Julie Aubrey, two of his co-workers, drove out to his home during their lunch hour. (II 135-139) They noticed that Peacock's green, Chrysler, convertible was nowhere in sight. (II 139-141)

Privette and Aubrey knocked loudly on both the front and back doors without response. They also looked for Peacock in the converted garage out back. They found no one. (II 141-43) As they left the garage, several dogs ran up to them. Finding this peculiar, Peacock tried the back door and found it unlocked. (II 144) They found that lights, a television, and a computer had been left on.

They discovered the body of Randy Peacock on the floor of the kitchen. (II 144-146) Because of his medical training, Privette could tell immediately that

Peacock was dead. (II 146) Fearing that the assailant might still be in the house, Privette and Aubrey left the house and called 911. (II 146-149)

Police responded to the scene and found Peacock dead in the kitchen. They found Charlie Johnston dead in a shed located right behind the back porch area of the house. Law enforcement secured the crime scene. (II 175-180)

Police interviewed neighbors during their investigation. Prior to their murders, Peacock's and Johnston's next-door neighbor, Patrick Michael Anderson, had been working on Johnston's car. On October 4, 2006, Anderson went to his neighbors' house to finish the brake job that he had started the day before. (II 164-166) When Anderson arrived that day, Johnston was not home. Peacock was there and the appellant was visiting. (II 166-170) Appellant and Peacock were talking as they stood under the carport sometime between 4:30 and 7:00 p.m. (II 170) The next day, Anderson learned that Peacock and Johnston had been murdered. (II 170-171) Police subsequently showed a photographic array to Anderson. Anderson identified appellant as the man he saw conversing with Peacock that afternoon. (II 171-173) Appellant then became the focus of the investigation.

Appellant's Confessions

Appellant was subsequently arrested for offenses committed in other parts of the state. On October 5, 2006, appellant gave a statement at the Citrus County

Sheriff's Office in Inverness, Florida. (V 209) After waiving his constitutional rights, appellant explained the events of October 4, 2006. Appellant arrived at Johnston's house near dusk. When he arrived, Randy Peacock was home, but Johnston was in town getting an automobile part. Mr. Anderson, a neighbor was working on Johnston's car. Johnston returned around dusk. Mr. Anderson eventually went home, leaving appellant alone with Peacock and Johnston. (V 209-12)

Appellant explained that he had gone to Charlie and Randy's house "because of his addiction." (V 212) Appellant asked Johnston for a hammer and a block of wood to hammer out a dent in his Kia that he had driven to the house. Johnston did not have a hammer, but gave appellant a hatchet instead. (V 212) Appellant then struck Johnston in the head using the blade side of the hatchet. Appellant struck Johnston several times. (V 213) Johnston fell into the shelving and caused a loud noise. (V 213-14)

Appellant returned to the house where he walked up behind Randy Peacock, who was standing at the stove. Appellant stuck Peacock in the back of the head approximately three times using the blunt side of the hatchet. After Peacock was on the floor, appellant returned to the shed where he removed Johnston's wallet

¹ Appellant was addicted to cocaine.

from his person. (V 214) When appellant returned to the house, he found Peacock staggering up on his feet. Believing that Peacock might have been blinded from the earlier trauma to the head, appellant grabbed a butcher knife from the kitchen counter and stabbed Peacock multiple times. Appellant stabbed him once in the rib cage, once to the neck, and once in the stomach using an upward motion in an attempt to hit a major organ. (V 215) Appellant then located Peacock's wallet in a small lunch box in the dining room area. Taking both wallets and leaving his Kia behind, appellant left in Peacock's car.

On February 6, 2007, two detectives from the St. Johns County Sheriff's Department interviewed the appellant. After waiving his constitutional rights, appellant gave a second statement. He explained that he went to the residence on October 4, 2006, with the intent of borrowing money from Charles Johnston. (V 192-95) When appellant arrived at the house, Patrick Anderson was there working on a car. Anderson left sometime before dark. (V 195-96) Appellant asked Johnston for a hammer and a block of wood to knock a dent out of the side door of his automobile. Johnston could not locate a hammer, so he gave appellant a hatchet instead. When they went to the shed to get a block of wood, appellant struck Johnston in the head with the blunt end of the hatchet. (V 196-97) Johnston fell into some shelving inside the shed before falling down. (V 196) Appellant

struck Johnston one or two more times before leaving the shed. (V 196-97)

Appellant entered the house where Peacock was cooking in the kitchen.

Appellant hit Peacock in the back of the head with the same blunt side of the hatchet. (V 197) Appellant became concerned that the attacks were audible to an elderly woman who lived in a small cottage on the property. (V 197)

After attacking Peacock in the kitchen, appellant went back to the shed where he found Johnston still alive and moving. He used the hatchet to strike Johnston a couple more times. Appellant then retrieved Johnston's wallet which was in his pants pocket. Appellant placed the hatchet on top of a bucket inside the shed and returned to the house. (V 197-98)²

When appellant returned to the kitchen, he was surprised to see Peacock attempting to stand up. Appellant grabbed a butcher knife from the kitchen drainer on the counter and stabbed Peacock with it two, possibly three times. (V 199) Appellant explained that he was trying to stab Peacock's jugular vein. When he did not see much blood, he assumed that he had missed the jugular. He then began an attempt to stab Peacock in the heart. He also stabbed Peacock in the stomach, in an upward motion, attempting to strike his heart. (V 200) After stabbing Peacock, appellant searched for and found Peacock's wallet in a lunch box in the

² Authorities later found the hatchet exactly where appellant had left it. (V

dining room. Appellant then took Peacock's keys and drove away in Peacock's automobile.³ (V 201) Prior to leaving the house, appellant washed the butcher knife and placed it in the kitchen sink where authorities later recovered it. (V 202)

The Autopsies

An autopsy revealed that Randy Peacock suffered six stab wounds to the chest, abdomen, back, and neck. These wounds caused extensive bleeding and blood loss which Dr. Steiner cited as the cause of death. A contributory cause of death were the four areas of blunt trauma to the back of Peacock's head. These blows to the head fractured Peacock's skull and caused swelling of the brain. (VI 278-79) Dr. Steiner concluded that Peacock's death was the result of a homicide. (VI 279) While all the wounds were inflicted while Peacock was still alive, the doctor could not determine whether Peacock was conscious or not. (VI 280)

An autopsy of Charles Johnston revealed extensive trauma to the head caused by four chop wounds to the front of the head. The wounds cut through the skin, crushed the underlying tissue, and fractured the skull in six to eight places. This caused extensive damage to the brain. The resulting massive head trauma caused Johnston's death. (VI 288-92) Dr. Steiner testified that it was almost impossible to determine the order of the infliction of the various wounds to each

victim. (VI 289) Johnston would have lost consciousness before eventually dying. (VI 292)

Penalty Phase

Appellant presented no witnesses at the subsequent penalty phase. The trial court allowed appellant to introduce bank records immediately prior to his closing argument at the penalty phase. The records indicated large withdrawals from his checking account in the weeks leading up to the murders. Appellant offered this evidence ostensibly to show that his cocaine addiction was draining his finances. Appellant sought to prove that his cocaine addiction caused him to act without thinking.

The state introduced judgments and sentences establishing appellant's several prior violent felony convictions. The state also recalled Timothy Rollins, a law enforcement officer who elicited appellant's October 5, 2006 statement. On that date, appellant told Rollins that he went to the victims' house that day with the intent to kill them for money. (VIII 517-30)

³ Peacock's car was later recovered in Alachua County. (V 201)

Victim Impact Evidence

The state also presented victim impact evidence. By all accounts, Charlie Johnston was a wonderful father to his daughter and son. He went out of his way to make their childhoods something very special. He was also a very good friend to those around him. Johnston's daughter called him the most giving, understanding, nonjudgmental, and kind-hearted person one could ever hope to meet. (VIII 530-35)

Randy Peacock's sister described him as very loving and tender hearted.

Because of his nature, Peacock was an ideal caregiver. He worked as a respiratory therapist for more than twenty years and was a favorite of the hospital patients. He meant the world to his five brothers and sisters as well as his numerous nieces and nephews. Randy's younger brother, Len, had mental and emotional problems.

Randy had served as Len's primary caregiver since 1987. He provided complete support, including food, clothing, shelter, and medical attention.

Randy's sister described her irrational guilt for her failure to sense Randy's murder that fateful day. She had called Randy after his murder, but before his body had been discovered.

Randy had a plan to retire in ten years at the age of sixty so that he could travel with Charlie Johnston, who was not in the best of health. Randy's sister

described her anger over Randy's death. She also described how she scattered the ashes of Randy and Charlie in Jackson Lake at Grand Teton National Park. (VIII 535-40)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant represented himself throughout the proceedings below. He was dissatisfied with his court-appointed lawyers because they waived his speedy trial rights when they requested a continuance prior to any communication with the appellant. After complaining on several occasions about his court-appointed lawyers' waiver of his right to speedy trial, appellant asked to be allowed to represent himself. After conducting a *Faretta*⁴ inquiry, the trial court granted appellant's request. The trial proceeded with the appellant *pro se* and the two lawyers from the Office of the Public Defender acting as standby counsel.

Appellant submits that the inquiry pursuant to *Faretta* was insufficient. Specifically, the trial court failed to explore the appellant's experience with the criminal justice system. Other than determining that appellant had never represented himself during a legal proceeding. The trial court's inquiry on this subject matter was nonexistent.

Appellant also contends that the trial court limited his right to counsel.

Specifically, the trial court appointed standby counsel to assist appellant's *pro se* venture. Nevertheless, the trial court improperly restricted standby counsel from helping appellant during the charge conference. Standby counsel's participation

⁴ Faretta v. Sate, 422 U.S. 806 (1975).

and assistance was undoubtedly chilled throughout the proceedings below.

Additionally, it is clear from the record that appellant was dissatisfied with his trial counsel's performance. This was the only reason that he requested to represent himself. The trial court's inquiry pursuant to *Nelson v. State*, 274 So 2d 256 (Fla. 1973), on trial counsel's deficient performance was also inadequate.

Fundamental error occurred when the trial court *sua sponte* excused juror Schultz for cause. In addition to departing from the neutral position that a trial court should maintain at all times, the cause challenge was not supported by the record on appeal. Ms. Schultz testified under oath that she could consider either a life sentence or a death sentence. She did not hesitate nor equivocate. Her cause for excusal was unwarranted.

Additionally, appellant contends that the trial court committed reversible error by writing one sentencing order containing findings of fact as to both first-degree murders and resulting death sentences. Although the trial court discussed the individual facts relating to each of the two murders, the trial court did so in one seamless order. Appellant contends that this lack of individualized sentencing in the death penalty context violates Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution as well as the Constitution of the State of Florida.

Only three aggravating circumstances were found and weighed by the trial

court. Two of these are present in almost every first-degree murder. The mitigation found and weighed by the trial court was substantial. A proper weighing of the mitigating circumstances against the aggravating factors should result in two life sentences without possibility of parole.

Finally, appellant challenges Florida's death-sentencing scheme as unconstitutional. The procedure violates *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), and the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Appellant recognizes the futility of raising this issue in this Court, but feels compelled in an effort to avoid procedural bar.

ARGUMENTS

POINT I

FUNDAMENTAL ERROR OCCURRED WHEN THE TRIAL COURT EXCUSED POTENTIAL JUROR IRENA SCHULTZ FOR CAUSE IN CONTRAVENTION OF APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY A NEUTRAL MAGISTRATE.

Juror number 246, Irena Schultz, is the wife of a retired police officer in New York. The couple had five children ranging in age from thirteen to thirty. Ms. Schultz revealed in voir dire that one of her five children had been killed as a result of a criminal offense approximately seven months prior to appellant's trial. (I 31) Ms. Schultz also revealed that her oldest daughter had spent five years in the military as a police officer in Germany. Ms. Schultz worked a few hours a week outside the home trying to learn about interior design. (I 31-32)

Subsequently, the prosecutor asked Ms. Schultz how she felt about the death penalty.

MS. SCHULTZ: I would be able to vote for either one of them.

MS. COREY [prosecutor]: You will?

MS. SCHULTZ: Yeah.

MS. COREY: And can you be fair and impartial to this defendant, even though you've just suffered

the loss of one of your children?

MS. SCHULTZ: Uh-huh.

MS. COREY: I need you to answer out loud because our court reporter has to take it down.

MS. SCHULTZ: Yes, I will.

(I 80-81) Appellant conducted his own *pro se* voir dire and further questioned Ms. Schultz:

MR. McKENZIE [appellant]: As painful as it may be, ma'am, I need to ask you a question, okay? The child that you lost, was it a victim or a suspect?

MS. SCHULTZ: A victim.

MR. McKENZIE: Okay, thank you.

MS. COREY: I didn't hear Ms. Schultz.

THE COURT: She said victim.

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