IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NORMAN BLAKE MCKENZIE,	
Appellant,	
v.	Case No. SC07-2101
	Lower Tribunal No. CF06-10864
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	
1	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 410519 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Telephone: (386) 238-4990 Facsimile: (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

<u>POINT I.</u> McKenzie failed to preserve this issue by failing to (1) object to the excusal of Juror Schultz; (2) object to the jury before it was sworn; (3) object to judicial bias; or (4) file a motion to disqualify the judge. Further, this issue has no merit. The trial judge did not commit manifest error by excusing Juror Schultz after the prosecutor indicated she was going to challenge the juror. Juror Schultz's child had recently been murdered in Orlando. There was no error, much less fundamental error.

<u>POINT II</u>. McKenzie unequivocally requested self-representation. He repeatedly stated he was not alleging counsel was ineffective, and the need for a *Nelson* hearing never became necessary. The only issue raised by McKenzie was the waiver of speedy trial which the judge discussed fully with McKenzie. The trial judge conducted a complete *Faretta* hearing both before the trial and before the penalty phase. Additionally, she offered counsel at the *Spencer* and sentencing hearings. There was no unreasonable limitation on standby counsel, and this issue was not preserved for review.

<u>POINT III</u>. The trial judge did not err in using one sentencing order for both victims where each victim was treated individually and each death sentence was individually imposed.

POINT IV. McKenzie's death sentence is proportional. There were three strong aggravating circumstances, including eight (8) prior violent felonies and cold, calculated, and premeditated. Prior violent felonies and cold, calculated, and premeditated are two of the weightiest aggravating circumstances. There was sufficient evidence to convict of two counts of first-degree murder. McKenzie left his vehicle at the victims' residence and was driving one victim's vehicle before he was arrested in Citrus County. One victim's wallet was on McKenzie's person and the other victim's wallet was in the vehicle McKenzie was driving. McKenzie made a full confession.

<u>POINT V.</u> McKenzie's *Ring* claim was not preserved and has no merit.

POINT I

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BY EXCUSING, JUROR SCHULTZ FOR CAUSE

McKenzie claims fundamental error occurred when Juror Schultz was excused for cause. The State first notes that, as McKenzie acknowledges, there was no objection to Ms. Schultz being stricken, and this issue is not preserved for appeal. *Rhodes v. State*, 638 So. 2d 920, 924 (Fla. 1994). Neither was there an objection to the jury before it was seated. *See Zack v. State*, 911 So. 2d 1190, 1204 (Fla. 2005) ("By not renewing the objection prior to the jury being sworn, it is presumed that the objecting party abandoned any prior objection he or she may have had and was satisfied with the selected jury.").

Insofar as McKenzie claims the judge was biased, there was no objection on this basis and no motion for disqualification filed. *See Overton v. State*, 976 So. 2d 536, 547 (Fla. 2007); *Schwab v. State*, 814 So. 2d 402, 407 (Fla. 2002). Although McKenzie claims fundamental error, he cites no case in which this, or any other, Court has held that a jury selection issue can be fundamental error. Fundamental error is that which "goes to the foundation of the case or the merits of the cause of action and is equivalent to a denial of due process. *J.B.*, 705 So. 2d 1376, 1378 (Fla. 1998); *see also State v. Johnson*, 616 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1993) (stating that "for an error to be so fundamental that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the

error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process). The doctrine of error is applied only in rare cases where a jurisdictional error appears or where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application. *Smith v. State*, 521 So. 2d 106, 108 (Fla. 1988); *see also Hopkins v. State*, 632 So. 2d 1372, 1374 (Fla. 1994).

Further, the claim that the trial judge was biased has no merit and McKenzie's cases are inapposite. This Court distinguished both *Evans v. State*, 831 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) and *Sparks v. State*, 740 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), in *Williams v. State*, 967 So. 2d 735, 751 (Fla. 2007) as follows:

[T]he cases upon which Williams relies to support his claim that the trial court departed from neutrality are clearly distinguishable because they involve situations where the trial judge prompted the prosecution to either present certain evidence or take certain actions. *See, e.g., Williams v. State*, 901 So. 2d 357 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005) (court prompted the State during trial to alter allegation in first of two counts of information to fit proof of offense); Evans v. State, 831 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (trial court suggested that prosecution inquire into the immigration status of the defendant); *Sparks v. State*, 740 So. 2d 33 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (trial court indicated evidence that prosecution could use for impeachment).

Lastly, the record is clear that the prosecutor was going to strike Juror Schultz and the trial judge simply cut to the chase. The facts surrounding this issue include:

During questioning, Juror Schultz stated:

MS. SCHULTZ: I am married to a retired police officer from New York. I had five children. I have four children now. One was killed in January. My oldest daughter is 30 and my youngest one is 13.

THE COURT: I'm terribly sorry to hear about your child. Was it a criminal offense or was it a tragic accident?

MS. SCHULTZ: Criminal.

THE COURT: Was that here in St. Johns County?

MS. SCHULTZ: Orange.

THE COURT: And you said you have a 30-year-old. What do they do?

MS. SCHULTZ: She's right now in North Carolina, but she spent five years in the military as a police officer in Germany.

(V4, TT31).

After the *voir dire* questioning, the judge made individual inquiries of the jurors who had been exposed to media coverage. (V4, R94-102). The State requested jurors Richards and Banta be stricken for cause. McKenzie asked to strike Mr. Clayton for cause. Neither side objected to the cause challenges of the other. (V4, TT103). The judge then asked for any strikes of the first twelve jurors. (V4, TT103). The State struck Mr. Pellicer. (V4, TT104). Then the following took place:

THE COURT: Okay. So then that would bring up Mr. Rhodes. Does the State have any objection to, I guess it would be Mr. King, Ms. Schultz, Ms. Lake, Mr. Barry, Ms. Davis, Ms. Green, Mr. Reames, Mr. Sweet, Ms. Brooks, Mr. Parsons, Mr. Neal, Mr. Rhodes?

MS. COREY (prosecutor): Your Honor, we're concerned about Ms. Schultz, based on her loss of her son as a murder victim, so –

THE COURT: That's true.

MS. COREY: -- I think we're going to go –

THE COURT: I'm going to strike her for cause. Although she indicated that she could be fair, she has a child that was recently murdered, and I'm going to strike her.

MS. COREY: We're fine, then, Your Honor.

THE COURT: That brings us to Ms. Normington.

MS. COREY: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Any objections?

MS. COREY: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Mr. McKenzie, any objections or any strikes for now? We've got Mr. King, Ms. Lake, Mr. Barry, Ms. Davis, Ms. Green, Mr. Reames, Mr. Sweet, Ms. Brooks, Mr. Parsons, Mr. Neal, Mr. Rhodes, and Ms. Normington.

MR. McKENZIE: No, ma'am, no objections.

THE COURT: No objection? Okay. How many alternate jurors do we need?

MS. COREY: I would impanel two, in an abundance of caution, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. McKenzie, two alternates okay with you?

MR. McKENZIE: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: They would only serve if something should happen to one of the jurors.

MR. McKENZIE: I understand.

THE COURT: The next two in line would be Ms. Mason and Ms.

Hand. Are there any objections to Ms. Mason or Ms. Hand?

MS. COREY: Not from the State, Your Honor.

MR. McKENZIE: No, ma'am.

(V4, TT104-106).

It is apparent from the record that the prosecutor was going to strike Ms. Schultz. Whether that strike was going to be a cause challenge or peremptory challenge is not clear.⁶ McKenzie claims that the trial judge "*sua sponte*" struck the juror and "become an advocate for the prosecution." (Initial Brief at 21).

This allegation is not supported by the record. It is obvious the prosecution was going to strike the juror, and the trial judge saw that the grounds were obvious and struck the juror. McKenzie concedes the trial court ruling should be overturned only for manifest error/abuse of discretion. (Initial Brief at 23). He also concedes that a reviewing court must give deference to the trial judge's determination, and a juror must be excused if there is any reasonable doubt as to whether the juror can be impartial. (Initial Brief at 23-24). In summary:

The test for determining juror competency is whether the juror can lay aside any bias or prejudice and render a verdict solely on the evidence

.

⁶ The State had only exercised one peremptory challenge and had nine left. Ms. Schultz would have been the second peremptory challenge for the State. After Ms. Schultz was stricken, Ms. Corey stated "We're fine, then, Your Honor." Therefore, even if Ms. Schultz had not been stricken for cause, she would have been stricken peremptorily.

presented and the instructions on the law given by the court. See Lusk v. State, 446 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1984). A juror must be excused for cause if any reasonable doubt exists as to whether the juror possesses an impartial state of mind. See Bryant v. State, 656 So. 2d 426, 428 (Fla. 1995). A trial court has great discretion when deciding whether to grant or deny a challenge for cause based on juror incompetency. See Pentecost v. State, 545 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 1989). The decision to deny a challenge for cause will be upheld on appeal if there is support in the record for the decision. See Gore v. State, 706 So. 2d 1328, 1332 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 892, 119 S.Ct. 212, 142 L.Ed.2d 174 (1998). "In reviewing a claim of error such as this, we have recognized that the trial court has a unique vantage point in the determination of juror bias. The trial court is able to see the jurors' voir dire responses and make observations which simply cannot be discerned from an appellate record." Smith v. State, 699 So. 2d 629, 635-36 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008, 118 S.Ct. 1194, 140 L.Ed.2d 323 and cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1020, 118 S.Ct. 1300, 140 L.Ed.2d 466 (1998); see also Taylor v. State, 638 So. 2d 30, 32 (Fla. 1994). It is the trial court's duty to determine whether a challenge for cause is proper. See Smith, 699 So. 2d at 636.

Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d 119, 1128 (Fla. 2000). The trial court must excuse a juror for cause "if any reasonable doubt exists as to whether the juror possesses an impartial state of mind." *Kearse v. State*, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1128 (Fla. 2000) (citing *Bryant v. State*, 656 So. 2d 426, 428 (Fla. 1995)). A juror is not impartial when one side must overcome a preconceived opinion in order to prevail. *See Hamilton v. State*, 547 So. 2d 630, 633 (Fla. 1989)(*quoting Hill v. State*, 477 So. 2d 553, 556 (Fla. 1985)). Close cases should be resolved in favor of excusing the juror rather than leaving doubt as to his or her impartiality. *Sydleman v. Benson*, 463 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

The trial judge did not commit manifest error in excusing Juror Schultz, whose child had recently been murdered in a neighboring county. *See Rodriguez v. State*, 816 So. 2d 805 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) (juror comments about her experiences with domestic violence should have sent up "red flag that she had no business sitting on a case in which the defendant was charged with an offense involving domestic violence"); *Hill v. State*, 839 So. 2d 883, 887 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) (juror comment about guns should have sent up red flag); *See also Blye v. State*, 566 So. 2d 877 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (crimes against friends); *Miles v. State*, 826 So. 2d 492, 493 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002) (medical social worker who worked in emergency room with sexually abused children should have been excused for cause, despite the attempts at rehabilitation).

POINT II

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT COMMIT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IN CONDUCTING NELSON AND FARETTA HEARINGS, OR IN LIMITING THE ROLE OF STANDBY COUNSEL

Faretta hearing. McKenzie claims the trial judge conducted an inadequate Faretta hearing, but does not specify which Faretta hearing was supposedly inadequate. The judge conducted two full Faretta hearings: before trial and before the penalty phase. McKenzie's only record cite is to the pre-trial hearing, and it appears the only alleged defect is that the trial judge "failed to inquire about appellant's experience with the criminal justice system." (Initial Brief at 26).

The complete history of the *Faretta* hearings follows:

On July 11, 2007, McKenzie told the trial judge he did not want his speedy trial rights waived and counsel had requested a continuance without consulting him. (V2, R356). Defense counsel explained that they had been appointed to the case in February and McKenzie had been transported away from St. Johns County to other jurisdictions. Defense counsel filed a motion to continue the trial that was set for March 15 and waived speedy trial. (V2, R352, 356). McKenzie told the judge this was a "cut-and-dry case" and there was no reason to continue the trial. (V2, R358). McKenzie did not want to be in the county jail. (V2, R359). When the trial judge advised McKenzie the defense attorneys needed to prepare a defense and mitigation, McKenzie stated:

THE DEFENDANT: They can't prepare mitigation unless I'm willing for them to prepare mitigation, correct?

THE COURT: They have to prepare mitigation regardless of whether you're willing.

THE DEFENDANT: No, they can only put on the stand who I want on the stand. They can only consult who I want them to consult. I'm trying to express this to them. They don't do what I want – they don't do what they want to do, they do what I want them to do.

(V2, R360). McKenzie said he would waive any claim of ineffective assistance of counsel if trial was set before counsel was prepared. Defense counsel stated he would be forced to withdraw if trial was set before he was prepared. (V2, R361).

Defense counsel said that he could not file a demand for speedy trial in good faith because he was not ready for trial. Because of the numerous charges McKenzie had in other jurisdictions, he was transported from St. Johns County before the attorneys could meet with him. Further, McKenzie indicated he was going to obtain private counsel when he was arraigned in October 2006. (V2, R363). The Public Defender was not appointed until February 2007. (V2, R363). The trial judge asked McKenzie if he wanted to go to trial in August, and McKenzie said: "Absolutely." (V2, R364). Besides, he said: "There's nothing to discuss in this case." (V2, R364). McKenzie said there was "no discoveries to be made" and "no depositions to be made" because:

I was the only one present during the murders when they occurred, how can there be a deposition to be made?

. . .

You can't depo a dead person.

(V2, R365).

At the August 7, 2007, pretrial conference defense counsel stated they filed a motion to continue the trial set for August 20, 2007. After the July 16 pretrial conference, depositions were set but very few witnesses appeared. Trial counsel was unprepared to go to trial. (V2, R369). Defense counsel Peshek advised the court that the case agent, Detective Burres, did not appear for depositions. (V2, 372). Neither did the two detectives who took McKenzie's statement. (V2, R373).

McKenzie told the trial judge he "absolutely" wanted to represent himself. (V2, R375). He was ready to go to trial on August 20. (V2, R375). A *Faretta* hearing was set for the following Friday. Defense counsel stated that a psychiatrist had conducted two evaluations if that would assist with competency. (V2, R376). McKenzie repeated that he just wanted to "get this over with this month" ... "whatever it takes." (V2, R380). McKenzie wanted a motion for "a fast and speedy trial." (V2, R383).

On August 10, 2007, the trial judge stated that she had not received any motion from McKenzie and inquired as to the status of the case. Defense counsel Valerino stated that he had filed a motion to continue the August 20 trial and he was not ready to proceed to trial. (V3, R387). Specifically, defense counsel was not prepared for a penalty phase. (V3, R388). McKenzie expressed a concern that he was being held in County jail rather than prison. The trial judge asked if he would continue with trial counsel if she let him go back to state prison. McKenzie said he wanted the trial that month. (V3, R389). The trial judge explained the importance of the penalty phase. (V3, R391). McKenzie stated that:

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